

ARTICLE I: NAME

The name of this Corporation is The Ninety-Nines, Inc., International Organization of Women Pilots ("Corporation"), also known as The 99s, Inc., with permanent headquarters ("Headquarters") located at Will Rogers World Airport, Oklahoma City, Oklahoma, USA.

ARTICLE II: PURPOSE, POLICIES, AND DEFINITION

Section 1. Purpose

The purpose of the Corporation is stated in its entirety in the Certificate of Incorporation, as amended.

Section 2. Policy

- A. No substantial part of the activities of the Corporation shall be the carrying on of propaganda or otherwise attempting to influence legislation. The Corporation shall not participate in or intervene in (including the publication or distribution of statements) any political campaign on behalf of any candidate for public office.
- B. Subject to the provisions of the Certificate of Incorporation, as amended, joint ventures of the Corporation with any duly constituted group for the purpose of promoting the interest of either group shall require a majority vote of all delegates at the annual meeting.

Section 3. Definitions

- A. Hereinafter, the words "...these bylaws..." include both the Corporation's bylaws and Certificate of Incorporation, as amended.
- B. "Board of Directors" refers to International Board of Directors only.
- C. "Candidate(s)" refers to any member running for an elective position, at any stage, and is used interchangeably with nominee.
- D. "delegate" is a member in good standing who is elected to represent the votes entrusted to her by any Chapter or Section at the Annual Meeting.
- E. "proxy" is a member appointed by a delegate to vote in her place.

ARTICLE III: CORPORATE STRUCTURE

Section 1. The structure of the Corporation shall be:

- A. International - the worldwide membership of the Corporation governed by an elected board of directors.
- B. Sections - geographical division of the membership.
- C. Chapters - subdivisions of the Section membership.
- D. Section and Chapter formation, division, or dissolution shall be in accordance with the Standing Rules.
- E. Bylaws of Sections and Chapters shall not be in conflict with the Bylaws and Standing Rules of the Corporation. Further details and/or guidelines, or administrative rules of a continuing nature for implementing and carrying out the Bylaws and Standing Rules may be found in the Standard Operating Procedures Manual at Headquarters.

ARTICLE IV: Affiliations

Section 1. Subject to the provision of the Certificate of Incorporation, as amended, and all other governing rules of the Corporation, affiliation of the Corporation with any other aviation organization, in compliance with the regulations of the Internal Revenue Code, USA, for Section 501(c)(3) organizations, or comparable regulations of another country, is permitted:

- A. by majority vote of the Board of Directors,
- B. with ratification by a majority vote of the delegates at the next annual meeting.

Section 2. Such affiliation does not confer membership in the Corporation and does not obligate the Corporation financially, but is for the purpose of promoting aviation and providing common forums for aviation organizations.

ARTICLE V: MEMBERSHIP

Section 1. Membership Requirements

- A. Any woman shall be eligible for membership in the Corporation if she can show satisfactory evidence that she meets the following qualifications:
 - 1) Holds a Recreational, Sport or higher-grade pilot certificate or is a rated military pilot in similar aircraft or holds equivalent pilot certificates and ratings issued by the appropriate government authority.
 - 2) Agrees to abide by the Bylaws and Standing Rules of the Corporation with no recourse against the Corporation, officers or members thereof,

- 3) Pays initiation fee, International dues, applicable Section dues, and renews by two (2) full calendar months after the last day of the member's anniversary month.

Section 2. Approval of the membership application entitles the applicant to become a Chapter member, a Section member, or Member-at-Large.

Section 3. A former member may be reinstated as a Chapter member, a Section member, or Member-at-Large upon submission of the membership form.

Section 4. Classes of Membership

- A. Active Member - A member of a Chapter or of a Section in which there are no Chapters. Such member may vote, and if eligible, hold office at any level.
- B. Section Member - A member who resides within the boundaries of a Section in which there are Chapters but does not belong to a Chapter. Such member may vote for Section and International candidates, and as a delegate, but may not hold office at any level.
- C. Member-at-Large - A member who resides in a country in which no Section exists. Such member may vote only for International candidates, and as a delegate, but may not hold office at any level.
- D. Associate Member - A woman meeting the requirements of Section 1 of this Article, except that she holds a current Student pilot certificate, or equivalent pilot certificate issued by appropriate government authority, shall be eligible to become an Associate Member of the Corporation.
 - 1) Associate Members shall pay reduced annual dues for the first two years of their membership after which they shall pay dues at the full active member rate.
 - 2) Associate Members shall not vote, be a delegate, give a proxy as a delegate, or hold office at the International level.
 - 3) Membership time accrued as an Associate Member shall not be credited towards meeting the eligibility requirements of ARTICLE V: MEMBERSHIP, Section 5. Paragraph B. Life Member, and ARTICLE X: ELIGIBILITY TO HOLD OFFICE.
 - 4) In Sections where there are Chapters, these Associate Members must be affiliated with a Chapter.
 - 5) Associate Members shall convert to full Corporate membership when a Recreational, Sport, Private, or higher grade pilot certificate is earned.

Section 5. Membership Status

- A. Charter Member - Any member whose name appears on the 1929 Charter document. Charter members retain all benefits of membership and are exempt from annual membership fees and dues.
- B. Life Member - A member reaching the age of sixty (60) who has been a member for twenty (20) years or more and makes a payment equivalent to ten (10) times the current dues to the Corporation or a member reaching the age of 60 who has been a member for at least five (5) years, but less than twenty (20) years and makes a payment equivalent to twenty (20) times the current dues to the Corporation. Life members retain all benefits of membership and are exempt from annual membership fees and dues.
- C. President Emeritus - Any member who has served as an International President. President Emeritus members retain all benefits of membership and are exempt from annual membership fees and dues after serving their term as President.

Section 6. Transfer of Membership

- A. A member may change classification to that of a Section member or Member-at- Large by notifying Headquarters.
- B. A member may transfer to another Chapter by notifying Headquarters.

Section 7. Termination, Suspension or Expulsion

- A. Membership shall be terminated by the Board of Directors for non-payment of Corporation dues two (2) full calendar months after the last day of the member's anniversary month.
- B. A member shall be suspended or expelled only after an investigation into facts alleging conduct tending to injure the good name of the Corporation, disturb its well-being, hamper it in its work, or for specific verified acts of misappropriation of organization funds, intentional violation of the Certificate of Incorporation or Bylaws, or a criminal act. A personal dispute between members shall not be cause for administrative disciplinary proceedings.
 - 1) The Governor of the member's Section shall appoint an Investigatory Committee and a Formal Hearing Committee to investigate and hear a complaint against a member.
 - a) The Investigatory and Formal Hearing Committees are authorized to use electronic mail and teleconferencing, as needed, in furthering their work.

- b) The final vote on the Investigatory Committee Report will be by teleconference or in person, followed by a written ballot. Dissenting members can write their report which will be submitted with the committee report.
 - c) The Formal Hearing shall be held in Executive Session with Committee members and other invited attendees, such as attorneys or witnesses, on an as needed basis.
 - d) The rules governing the activities of these committees are set forth in the "Disciplinary Procedures Standing Rule" and in the current edition of *Robert's Rules of Order Newly Revised*.
- 2) The member shall be afforded a formal hearing during which evidence is presented and during which she will be provided an opportunity to present evidence on her own behalf.
 - a) The Formal Hearing Committee shall issue a decision finding the member not guilty or guilty of the charges with a two-thirds (2/3) written vote of the Committee's members voting, and,
 - b) If a guilty verdict is rendered, the Formal Hearing Committee will impose an appropriate sanction of suspension (30 days to one (1) year) or expulsion from membership in the Corporation.
 - 3) The International Board of Directors hears appeals of Formal Hearing Committee decisions.
 - 4) If, upon appeal, the decision of the Formal Hearing Committee to suspend or expel a member is upheld, modified, or overturned, the decision shall be affirmed by a two-thirds (2/3) vote of the International Board of Directors voting.
 - 5) The decision of the International Board of Directors is final and is effective immediately.

ARTICLE VI: FISCAL AND DUES

- Section 1.** The revenue of the Corporation shall be derived from annual membership dues, investments, contributions, bequests and such other means as may be approved by the Board of Directors, none of which sources may be inconsistent with the provisions of Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code (USA) or with its successor statutes or the Certificate of Incorporation, as amended.
- Section 2.** The fiscal year shall begin June 1 and end May 31 of the following year.
- Section 3.** Any changes in dues shall be determined by the delegates at the Annual Meeting and are payable to the Corporation at Headquarters. Current dues information shall be in the Standing Rules.
- Section 4.** Fund-raising outside the Corporation involving the solicitation of substantial contributions from other corporations, organizations, or individual supporters shall be done according to the Standing Rules.

ARTICLE VII: ANNUAL MEETING

- Section 1.** The Corporation shall meet annually at a time and place approved by the Board of Directors. Official notice of the annual meeting shall be published in The 99 News.
- Section 2.** Voting
- A. The voting body of the annual meeting shall consist of the following delegates:
 - 1) Governor, duly elected by the members of each Section,
 - 2) One (1) delegate for every five (5) members or major fraction thereof, from each Chapter or Section where no Chapter exists.
 - 3) One (1) delegate for every five (5) Section members or major fraction thereof, from each Section.
 - 4) One (1) delegate from the Members-at-Large for every five (5) members or major fraction thereof.
 - B. A delegate unable to attend the Annual Meeting may entrust her vote to another member by a written proxy, unless her vote has been designated by her Chapter or Section.
 - C. A delegate may hold no more than ten (10) proxy votes from Chapters other than her own.
 - D. Every member may attend the Annual Meeting and take part in the discussion, but only delegate and proxy votes will be counted.
 - E. A quorum shall be sixty (60) percent of the delegates credentialed by the Credentials Committee and the presence of credentialed delegates representing at least four (4) Sections.

ARTICLE VIII: ELECTIVE POSITIONS

- Section 1.** Board of Directors - The elected officers shall be a President, Vice-President, Secretary, and Treasurer and four (4) additional directors.
- Section 2.** Nominating Committee - The Nominating Committee shall consist of five (5) members, each from a different Section.
- Section 3.** Amelia Earhart Memorial Scholarship Fund (AEMSF) elected Trustees shall consist of at least three (3) members.

Section 4. Amelia Earhart Birthplace Museum (AEBM) Trustees shall consist of five (5) elected members of The Ninety-Nines, Inc., three (3) interested citizens of Atchison, Kansas, and a non-99 member at large appointed by the AEBM Trustees.

Section 5. Ninety-Nines Endowment Fund

The Ninety-Nines Endowment Fund Trustees shall obtain and manage funds in permanent accounts. The principal shall be retained and only the revenue earned shall be allocated. Trustees shall be five (5) elected members of The Ninety-Nines, Inc., who shall be bondable.

Section 6. The 99s Museum of Women Pilots

The 99s Museum of Women Pilots Trust shall obtain, collect, maintain and manage funds, memorabilia, artifacts and exhibits. Trustees shall consist of six (6) elected members of The Ninety-Nines, Inc. and up to three (3) interested citizens of the Oklahoma City area appointed by the Trustees and approved by the Board of Directors.

ARTICLE IX: TERMS OF OFFICE

Section 1. Board of Directors

- A. A term shall be two years or until her successor is declared elected or appointed.
- B. All officers and directors shall serve no more than two (2) consecutive terms in that office.
- C. The immediate Past President shall be a member of the Board of Directors and serve one (1) term.

Section 2. Nominating Committee

- A. A term shall be two (2) years or until her successor is declared elected or appointed.

Section 3. AEMSF

- A. The elected Trustees shall serve a term of three (3) years each as set forth in the AEMSF Resolution.
- B. No more than three Permanent Trustees shall retain office until they resign and/or their successors are appointed.

Section 4. Amelia Earhart Birthplace Museum

The Trustees shall serve a term of three (3) years each and may serve no more than two (2) consecutive terms. Officers shall be elected by the Trustees as provided in the 99s AEBM Resolution.

Section 5. Ninety-Nines Endowment Fund

The Trustees shall serve a term of two (2) years or until a successor is elected or appointed. Elected Trustees may serve up to three (3) consecutive terms as set forth in The Ninety-Nines Endowment Fund Resolution.

Section 6. 99s Museum of Women Pilots

The Trustees shall serve a term of three (3) years each, and may serve no more than two (2) consecutive terms. Officers shall be elected by the Trustees as provided in The 99s MWP Resolution.

Section 7. Assumption of Duties

- A. Officers, Directors, Nominating Committee members, AEMSF Trustees, elected AEBM Trustees, The Ninety-Nines Endowment Fund Trustees, and The 99s Museum of Women Pilots Trustees shall assume their duties at the close of the Annual meeting at which they are declared elected.

Section 8. Vacancies

- A. The Vice-President becomes President in the event of a vacancy in the office of President.
- B. A vacancy in any elective position other than that of President, AEMSF Trustee, elected AEBM Trustee, The 99s Endowment Fund Trustee, or The 99s Museum of Women Pilots Trustee shall be filled by action of the majority of the Board of Directors then in office, though less than a quorum, from a list of candidates submitted to the Board by the Nominating Committee.
- C. A vacancy in the immediate Past President's position shall remain vacant until she is succeeded by the current President.
- D. A vacancy in any of the three (3) elected AEMSF Trustee positions shall be filled by action of the remaining Trustees with approval of the Board of Directors.
- E. A vacancy in any of the five (5) elected AEBM Trustees shall be filled by action of the remaining elected Trustees, with the approval of the Board of Directors, to complete the unexpired term.
- F. A vacancy in any elected Ninety-Nine Endowment Fund position shall be filled by action of the remaining elected Trustees, with the approval of the Board of Directors, to complete the unexpired term.
- G. A vacancy in any elected 99s Museum of Women Pilots Trust position shall be filled by action of the remaining elected Trustees, with the approval of the Board of Directors, to complete the unexpired term.

Section 9. Removal from Office

- A. An elected Officer or Director shall be removed from office by a two-thirds (2/3) vote of the Board of Directors for specific verified acts of misappropriation of corporate funds or intentional violation of the Certificate of Incorporation or the Bylaws, only after a hearing and an appeal in accordance with procedures as designated in the parliamentary authority. Removal from office shall be requested by:
 - 1) a two-thirds (2/3) vote of the Chapter in which she holds office, or
 - 2) a two thirds (2/3) vote of the Section in which she holds office, or
 - 3) if an International Officer, a two-thirds (2/3) vote of the Board of Directors in attendance at a regularly scheduled meeting.

ARTICLE X: ELIGIBILITY TO HOLD OFFICE

Section 1. International Board of Directors

- A. Members of the Board of Directors shall at the time they become a candidate:
 - 1) have been a member for the previous five (5) consecutive years.
 - 2) hold at least a Recreational, Sport, or higher grade pilot certificate or is a rated military pilot as defined by the member's resident country.
 - 3) have held office in a Chapter or Section.
- B. The President and Vice-President shall have served one term on the Board of Directors at the time they assume office.
- C. No two (2) members of the Board of Directors may be from the same Chapter.

Section 2. Nominating Committee

- A. Members of the Nominating Committee shall at the time they become a candidate:
 - 1) have been a member for the previous five (5) consecutive years.
 - 2) have held office in a Chapter or Section.
- B. No two (2) members of the Nominating Committee may be from the same Section.

Section 3. Elected Trustees

- A. Before selection as a candidate, a Trustee shall be screened by the current Trustees of the respective Board and approved by the BOD in accordance with the current governing documents of the respective fund or museum.
- B. A member of The 99s may not serve concurrently as an International Officer, International Director, or Trustee.

ARTICLE XI: NOMINATIONS AND ELECTIONS

Section 1. Nominations

- A. All candidates shall file the Intent to Seek Election Form with the Nominating Committee and meet applicable eligibility requirements.
- B. The deadline for submission of the Intent to Seek Election form shall be publicized to all members. After the deadline, the Nominating Committee is authorized to seek additional candidates for elective positions for which there are an insufficient number of candidates. The committee must obtain Intent to Seek Election forms from these candidates.
- C. The Nominating Committee shall select all eligible candidates for each elective position.

Section 2. Elections

- A. In even-numbered years, the President, Vice-President, Secretary, Treasurer, and two (2) Directors, five (5) members of the Nominating Committee, the AEMSFS Trustee(s), the requisite number of AEBM Trustees, the requisite number of members of The Ninety-Nines Endowment Fund Trustees, and the requisite number of The 99s Museum of Women Pilots Trustees shall be elected by the ballot mailed to every member and received by the published deadline in accordance with the Standing Rules.
- B. In odd-numbered years in which there is no mailed ballot, the other two (2) Directors, AEMSFS Trustee(s), two (2) Ninety-Nines Endowment Fund Trustees, and the requisite number of The 99s Museum of Women Pilots Trustees and AEBM Trustees shall be elected at the Annual Meeting by ballot vote.
- C. A Plurality vote is required to elect Officers, Directors, Nominating Committee, AEMSFS Trustees, AEBM Trustees, Ninety-Nines Endowment Fund Trustees, and The 99s Museum of Women Pilots Trustees. The Nominating Committee shall elect its own chairman.
- D. In the event of a tie vote for any position on the mailed ballot, a run-off election will be held at the Annual Meeting.
- E. Ballots shall be processed in accordance with the Standing Rules.

ARTICLE XII: BOARD OF DIRECTORS

- Section 1.** The Board of Directors shall be composed of the elected Officers, Directors, and immediate Past President.
- Section 2.** The management of the Corporation and its property is vested in the Board of Directors as stated in the Certificate of Incorporation, as amended.
- Section 3.** Meetings
- A. The Board of Directors shall meet at the Annual Meeting and in the Spring and Fall at Corporate Headquarters.
 - B. Special meetings of the Directors may be called by notice in writing or by facsimile communication to each Director.
 - 1) Such meeting may be by telephone conference call to which at least five (5) members of the Board consent.
 - 2) A telephone conference call meeting must be conducted by such means that all persons participating in the meeting can hear each other, and participation shall constitute presence in person at the meeting.
 - C. A quorum shall be five (5) members.
- Section 4.** Among its other duties the Board shall authorize the expenditure of funds not budgeted, select an independent auditor, present a financial report at the Annual Meeting, and designate a depository for Corporate funds.
- Section 5.** The Board of Directors may adopt its own procedural rules and may amend them by a majority vote.
- Section 6.** Employees - The Board of Directors may employ persons at a salary approved by the Board and included in the annual budget for Headquarters staff.
- A. Executive Director - The responsibility, authority and such other duties as the Board may delegate to the Executive Director shall be detailed, reviewed, and set forth in an employment description approved for renewal by the Board annually.
 - 1) The Executive Director shall report to and consult with the President for approval of all policies and procedures of the Headquarters operation between meetings of the Board.
 - B. Dismissal of an employee - Any employee of the Corporation may be dismissed for improper conduct according to the terms of his/her employment, misappropriation of corporate funds, or failure to carry out the agreed responsibilities for which he/she is hired. Such action may be executed by a two-thirds (2/3) vote of the Board of Directors.

ARTICLE XIII: DUTIES OF OFFICERS AND DIRECTORS

- Section 1.** The President shall be the Chief Executive Officer of the Corporation, and an ex-officio member of all committees, except the Nominating Committee. She shall, along with one of the other duly elected officers, execute all contracts, agreements, deeds, bonds, mortgages and all documents and instruments as may be required by law in the name of the Corporation, and affix the corporate seal thereto when authorized by the Board of Directors. The President shall, when authorized by the Board of Directors, carry out the collective wishes of the members and she shall be the corporation spokesman on matters of International Policy.
- Section 2.** The Vice-President shall assist the President.
- Section 3.** The Secretary shall be responsible for accurate records of the Annual Meeting and meetings of the Board of Directors.
- Section 4.** The Treasurer shall be responsible for monitoring the financial affairs of the Corporation.
- Section 5.** Officers and Directors shall perform the duties provided in this Article and such other duties as are prescribed for them in these Bylaws and Standing Rules, and in the adopted parliamentary authority.

ARTICLE XIV: COUNCIL OF GOVERNORS

- Section 1.** The Council of Governors is composed of the Governor from each Section who shall represent their Sections at meetings of the International Board of Directors. The Vice-Governor or a duly elected Section Officer may represent the Section in the absence of the Governor.

ARTICLE XV: COMMITTEES

- Section 1.** All committees shall submit an Annual Report and operate in accordance with the Standing Rules and their Standard Operating Procedures.
- Section 2.** Standing committees are Bylaws/Standing Rules, Finance, Election Procedures, Long Range Planning, and such other standing committees as are deemed necessary to carry on the work of the Corporation.
- Section 3.** Committee Chairmen shall be appointed by the President with Board of Directors' approval except Nominating, which is elected.

ARTICLE XVI: INSIGNIA AND OFFICIAL PIN

Section 1. Insignia

- A. There shall be an official insignia in the form and color as registered with the U.S. Patent Office under S.N. 260676. The Ninety-Nines, Inc., Oklahoma City, Oklahoma, USA, filed on December 13, 1966, and renewed as necessary. The drawing is lined for the color blue. The mark is comprised of the face of a compass with the number "99" disposed in the center thereof. The insignia was first used January 1940 for indicating membership in the Association.
- B. The numbers 99 and 99s as well as their interlocking 9s as used in the official pin, are also recognized as official insignia.
- C. Merchandise which bears the official insignia shall not be sold without prior approval of the Board of Directors or its designee(s).

Section 2. Official Pin

- A. The official pin shall be the small square-cut super-imposed block nines with a center-mounted propeller.
- B. Members may wear attachments to the official pin with approval of the Board of Directors.
- C. The International President may wear a gavel with her pin.

Section 3. The use and sale of items bearing the Registered Trademark shall be as stated in the Standing Rules.

ARTICLE XVII: PUBLICATIONS

Section 1. Acceptable Use of Publications

- A. No member shall permit the publications to be used for commercial purposes contrary to the Certificate of Incorporation, Bylaws, or Standing Rules, such as for direct personal economic gain or direct benefit to a business for profit. This does not preclude the Corporation from seeking paid advertisements, subsidies, or sponsorship for its publications.
- B. No member shall permit the publications to be used for political purposes or political activities contrary to the Certificate of Incorporation, Bylaws, or Standing Rules.
- C. No member shall permit the publications to be used to circumvent established policies and procedures in the Certificate of Incorporation, Bylaws, Standing Rules, or Standard Operating Procedures (SOP).

Section 2. Membership Directory

- A. The contents of the Membership Directory are approved by the International Board of Directors.
- B. The Membership Directory shall be distributed according to the Standing Rules.

Section 3. Magazine

- A. The 99 NEWS magazine is the official publication of the Corporation.
- B. The 99 NEWS shall be distributed to all members according to the Standing Rules.

Section 4. Website

- A. The Website is the official Internet information source of the Corporation.
- B. The public section of the Website has open access. The Members Only section of the Website shall be accessible to all members according to the Standing Rules.

Section 5. Interactive Internet Resources

- A. The e-mail networking forums are the official interactive internet resources of the Corporation.
- B. The e-mail networking forums shall be accessible to all members according to the Standard Operating Procedures (SOP) and the Code of Conduct.

ARTICLE XVIII: RULES AND PARLIAMENTARY AUTHORITY

Section 1. The order of precedence of the Corporation's governing documents is: Certificate of Incorporation, Bylaws, Standing Rules, and Standard Operating Procedures.

Section 2. The most recent edition of Robert's Rules of Order Newly Revised shall govern the conduct of all meetings of the membership and the Board of Directors, in all cases where it is applicable, and in which it is not inconsistent with these Bylaws, other Corporate governing documents and/or any special rules this Corporation may adopt.

ARTICLE XIX: AMENDMENTS

Section 1. These Bylaws may be amended provided that the amendments:

- A. have been submitted by a Chapter, Section or International Bylaws Committee, Council of Governors or the International Board of Directors to the International Bylaws Committee by the published deadline.
- B. have been submitted to all Sections, Chapters, and Members-at-Large at least sixty (60) days prior to the Annual Meeting from International Headquarters.
- C. have received a two-thirds (2/3) vote at the Annual Meeting.

Section 2. The Bylaws become effective at the close of the Annual Meeting at which they are adopted.

Section 3. Amendments which change terminology shall be reflected automatically throughout these Bylaws for the purpose of maintaining consistency in language and meaning.

Section 4. Authority of the Bylaws Committee:

- A. The Bylaws Committee shall be charged with reviewing, consolidating, and/or developing alternative Bylaw amendments.
- B. The Bylaws Committee shall have the authority to return a proposed amendment to the originator with a written explanation of the reason for its return.

Section 5. Standing Rules

- A. Standing Rules may be amended by the delegates at the Annual Meeting by a majority vote with previous notice, or by two-thirds (2/3) vote without notice.
- B. The Board of Directors may amend the Standing Rules between Annual Meetings. Such amendments to become permanent must be ratified by the delegates at the next Annual Meeting with previous notice and majority vote.

Note: Bylaws presented are inclusive of all amendments. The history of amendments can be accessed through the Bylaws/Standing Rules Committee.